Supreme Court No. Court of Appeals No. 48644-0-II
Thurston County Superior Court Case No. 14-2-02223-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF OLYMPIA,

Petitioner,

VS.

NOVA CONTRACTING, INC.,

Respondent

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

INSLEE, BEST, DOEZIE & RYDER, P.S. William A. Linton, WSBA #19975
Jacob J. Stillwell, WSBA #48407
Attorneys for Petitioner City of Olympia
10900 NE 4th Street, Suite 1500
Bellevue, Washington 98004
Tel: 425-455-1234

Fax: 425-635-7720

Email: wlinton@insleebest.com

604261.3 - 361926 -0021

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Conflict with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Precedent

The Court of Appeals erred in reversing the trial court because its decision directly conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in *Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. County of Spokane*, 150 Wn.2d 375, 386-87, 78 P.3d 161 (2003) and related cases that require compliance with contract claim provisions in public works contracts.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Failure to Exhaust Administrative Remedies

Can a contractor ignore a contractually mandated claim procedure because it is asking for expectancy and consequential damages?

Answer:

No

2. Failure to Comply with Claim Notice Procedures

Does a claim alleging violation of the duty of good faith and fair dealing override the plaintiff's noncompliance with a mandatory claim resolution procedure found in the same contract?

Answer:

No

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 21, 2014, the City of Olympia ("Olympia" and "City") awarded a public works project to Nova Contracting, Inc. ("Nova") to rebuild a culvert. [CP 70] It was anticipated that the project would last approximately 45 days. [CP 79] The Notice to Proceed was issued August 11, 2014. [CP 79]

The contract included a mandatory claims procedure under the Washington State Department of Transportation's Standard Specifications, section 1-04.5, which is the industry standard regulation for municipal public works projects. [CP 72, 88-97] 1-04.5 states that if the contractor disagrees with any instruction or determination from the City engineer, the contractor must provide the City engineer with written notice of protest, including a full discussion of what and/or who caused the protest, an

¹ Referred to herein as "Std. Spec. 1-04.5."

estimated cost of the protested work, and an amended progress schedule. [CP 90] In short, 1-04.5 creates a dispute resolution process between the contractor and City. Satisfaction of 1-04.5 was a precondition to filing any court action based upon a contractual dispute. [CP 90 - 91]

The contract also required Nova to have submittals approved by the City Engineer prior to beginning work. [CP 81-82] Submittals are documents demonstrating how Nova would perform environmentally sensitive and technically complex work.

Throughout August and early September 2014, several key submittals were rejected by the City Engineer. [CP 74-75; 119-150] Emails were exchanged between Nova and Olympia officials as the parties attempted to resolve the issues. [CP 104-114] Nova officials became increasingly frustrated that the submittals were not being accepted; Olympia officials provided detailed instructions on what information was needed to improve the submittals and move the project forward. [CP 104-114] Importantly, Nova did not file a protest under 1-04.5. [CP 541]

On September 4, 2014, key submittals had still not been approved, so Olympia issued a notice of default, announcing Nova had 15 days to cure its breach and provide adequate assurances of completion. [CP 156-158]

The next day, Nova mobilized to the worksite, cutting through a City lock to access the property. [CP 222] On September 9, 2014 Olympia officials sent a letter to Nova explaining they were not authorized to work and that they were trespassing. [CP 164] On September 19, 2014 Nova filed a claim for delay. [CP 190-216] On September 24, 2014, Olympia terminated the contract. [CP 215]

Nova subsequently filed a lawsuit against Olympia, arguing that the City had violated its duty of good faith and fair dealing by rejecting its submittals. [CP 3-8] Olympia moved for summary judgment, denying that it breached its duty and asserting that Nova had waived its right to sue by not complying with Std. Spec. 1-04.5. [CP 61] The trial court granted Olympia's summary judgment motion. [RP 27] On appeal, Division II reversed, finding that questions of fact exist regarding whether Olympia breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing. Nova Contracting, Inc. v. City of Olympia, No. 48644-0-II (Wn. Ct. App. April 18, 2017), at 14. The court did not meaningfully address the claim procedure issue, dismissing Olympia's claim notice argument in a footnote. Id. at 6, fn 3.

M. ARGUMENT

A. COMPLIANCE WITH MANDATORY CLAIM RESOLUTION PROCEDURES IS A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO LITIGATION EVEN WHERE THE CLAIMANT ALLEGES BREACH OF THE DUTY OF GOOD FAITH PERFORMANCE

The first issue is whether Nova is prohibited from filing a lawsuit because it failed to comply with the contract's mandatory claims procedure, Std. Spec. 1-04.5, even when Nova claims breach of the duty of good faith performance.

Washington courts have "historically upheld the principle that procedural contract requirements must be enforced absent either a waiver by the benefiting party or an agreement between the parties to modify the contract." Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. County of Spokane, 150 Wn.2d 375, 386-87, 78 P.3d 161 (2003). A benefiting party "may imply waiver through its conduct." Reynolds Metal Co. v. Elec. Smith Constr. & Equip. Co., 4 Wn. App. 695, 700, 483 P.2d 880 (1971). "Waiver by conduct, however, 'requires unequivocal acts of conduct evidencing an intent to waive." Johnson, 150 Wn.2d at 386 (quoting Absher Constr. Co. v. Kent Sch. Dist. No. 415, 77 Wn. App. 137, 143, 890 P.2d 1071 (1995)).

Satisfying the "unequivocal acts' standard is demanding for a good reason. Waiver permanently surrenders an established contractual right."

American Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia, 162 Wn.2d 762, 771, 174 P.3d 54 (2007) (emphasis in original) (internal citations omitted). On summary judgment, this demanding burden of proof rests with the party claiming waiver. Jones v. Best, 134 Wn.2d 232, 241-42, 950 P.2d 1 (1998).

Absent a waiver contractual terms govern including requirements that mandatory claims procedures be followed before bringing legal action. See Realm, Inc. v. City of Olympia, 168 Wn. App. 1, 3, 277 P.3d 679 (2012) (holding that the contractor "waived the right to sue by failing to comply with notice provisions that were, by contract, a precondition to litigation by Realm against the City.").

Whether the benefiting party engaged in conduct that unequivocally demonstrated an intent to waive compliance is an intensely fact-specific analysis. For instance, in the *Mike M. Johnson* case, Spokane County awarded sewer project bids to Mike M. Johnson (MMJ). *Johnson*, 150 Wn. 2d at 378. The contract contained a mandatory claims procedure and provided that by failing to follow this procedure, "the Contractor completely waives any claims for protested work." *Id.* at 379. Problems arose during the project and MMJ sent the county numerous letters outlining its concerns, none of which complied with the claims procedure. *Id.* at 380-

382. The county consistently responded by referring MMJ to the claims procedure. Id. MMJ ultimately filed a complaint for damages, to which the county responded by arguing that "MMJ failed to comply with mandatory contractual protest and claims provisions, barring it from seeking judicial relief at this time." Id. at 385. MMJ replied that the county's actual knowledge of its concerns, coupled with its continued engagement with MMJ to resolve the disputes, resulted in a waiver of compliance with the contract. Id. at 387. This Court disagreed, ruling that:

... MMJ's notifying the county that it had concerns does not in any way evidence the county's intent to waive the contract's requirements. Moreover, to hold that a contractor's notice of protest to the owner serves to excuse the contractor from complying with mandatory claim procedures would render contractual claim requirements meaningless. There would be no reason for compliance, as the contractor could merely assert general grievances in order to secure a later claim.

Id at 391. Actual knowledge of the contractor's concerns and engagement with the contractor to resolve those issues are not unequivocal acts evidencing an intent to waive contract provisions. Without providing sufficient evidence of waiver, MMJ's claim did not survive summary judgment. Id. at 393.

In Realm v. Olympia, the appellate court analyzed implicit waiver. There, Olympia hired Realm to build a salmon passage tunnel, but terminated the contract after finding that Realm was doing inadequate work. Realm, 168 Wn. App. at 3. Realm submitted a claim to the City for work performed, the City issued a check to Realm for approximately half that amount, so Realm sued the City for breach of contract. Id. at 3. At no point did Realm comply with the mandatory claims procedure. Realm argued that it was not required to follow 1-04.5 because its dispute with the City arose after termination of the contract. Id. at 4. The appeals court disagreed, noting that:

It is undisputed that Realm never gave notice under section 1.04-5 in relation to any dispute during or after the contract, including the costs associated with termination and the amount due for the actual-worked performed ... Realm has consequently waived its right to sue under the contract.

Id. at 8.

In American Safety v. Olympia, this Court clarified that any evidence of a public entity unequivocally not waiving contract compliance by law defeats a contractor's claim on summary judgment, because such a claim is dependent upon ambiguity regarding whether the government waived compliance.

In American Safety, the City of Olympia hired Katspan to complete a public works project, subject to 1-04.5. American Safety, 162 Wn.2d at 764. Although the project was eventually completed, Katspan failed to finish on time and assigned its rights to American Safety. Id. at 765-66. American Safety sought additional funds from the City, but it did not follow the claims procedure. Id. at 768. The City denied the claim, explaining that American Safety did not comply with Std. Spec. 1-04.5; American Safety sued. The appeals court confusingly found that, while the City expressly said it was not waiving the contract and demanded compliance with Std. Spec. 1-04.5, it did not do so enough to unequivocally demonstrate it was not waiving the contract. Id. at 771. This Court reversed, finding that:

The Court of Appeals misapplied the law. While in some cases equivocal conduct does create an issue of material fact, in which case it would be improper to grant summary judgment, such ambiguity here means that the conduct by definition was not unequivocal, as is required for waiver. Given that the City three times expressly asserted that it was not waiving its defenses, a reasonable juror could not find that the City unequivocally did the exact opposite... Because American Safety admittedly did not comply with the contractual provisions, and because the City did not unequivocally waive its right to demand compliance with these provisions, we find that the trial court was correct in granting summary judgment.

Id. at 771-72 (emphasis included).

The settled rule distilled from these cases is that contractually mandated claims procedures must be followed as a condition precedent to a contractor filing a lawsuit under the contract. Contractors can avoid this requirement only when the public entity with which it has contracted engages in unequivocal acts of conduct evidencing an intent to waive compliance. Where contractors fail to comply with mandatory claims procedures, their legal challenges fail as a matter of law.

It is undisputed that Nova did not comply with the contract's mandatory claims procedures. [CP 541] There is also no evidence of implied waiver.

Similar to the contractors in Mike M. Johnson, Realm, and American Safety, Nova is attempting to litigate issues that arose under the contract, despite having not filed a claim pursuant to 1-04.5 nor showing any evidence that Olympia intended to waive contract compliance. The case law is clear that contractors cannot circumvent the claims process by filing a lawsuit unless they have complied with the claim notice procedures in the contract. The decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with this established Supreme Court precedent. By failing to protest the City Engineer's determinations that the submittals were defective and

unacceptable, Nova is deemed to have accepted those determinations and cannot now claim that the City exercised bad faith in rejecting the submittals. Allowing Nova to do so would have the effect of invalidating all claim notice provisions whenever good faith is alleged. This decision by the Court of Appeals effectively overturns the Supreme Court's holdings in Mike M. Johnson and its progeny.

B. STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH MANDATORY CLAIMS PROCEDURES DOES NOT DEPEND ON THE RELIEF SOUGHT

The next issue is whether Nova was excused from complying with 1-04.5 because it is asking for expectancy and consequential damages.

Olympia argued on appeal that Nova's claims are barred by failure to comply with 1-04.5, but the appeals court dismissed the argument in a brief footnote:

Initially, the City argues that Nova waived all claims relating to the rejection of its submittals because Nova failed to submit a timely protest under section 1-04.5 of the contract. We disagree. Although Nova may have waived claims for the cost of work performed under the contract, section 1-04.5 does not apply to expectancy and consequential damages.

Nova Contracting, Inc. v. City of Olympia, No. 48644-0-Il (Wn. Ct. App. April 18, 2017), at 6, fn 3.

There is no exception to the claims procedure rule for when contractors are claiming expectancy or consequential damages. Furthermore, it does not matter that Nova is claiming damages derived from work done outside the contract. See, Realm, 168 Wn. App. at 8. ("It is undisputed that Realm never gave notice under section 1.04-5 in relation to any dispute during or after the contract... Realm has consequently waived its right to sue under the contract") (emphasis added).

Allowing Nova to proceed with its lawsuit despite not complying with the claims procedure simply because it is asking for expectancy or consequential damages would create an exception that swallows the rule. The pertinent fact is that Nova's allegations derive from actions conducted pursuant to a valid contract that required adherence to a claims process prior to any litigation. The requirement to abide by these terms is not dependent upon the type of damages asked for by the plaintiff.

C. GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING CLAIM DOES NOT OVERRIDE NEED TO COMPLY WITH MANDATED CLAIM PROCEDURE

The final issue is whether allegations that Olympia breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing overrides the undisputed fact that Nova did

not comply with the claim procedure, the satisfaction of which was an agreed-to precondition to litigation.

Without citing to any case law, Nova argues that it did not have to comply with 1.04-5 because it is alleging that Olympia violated the principle of good faith and fair dealing by rejecting its submittals. But, addressing shortcomings in the submittals is precisely the kind of technical dispute 1.04-5 was created to address. Permitting Nova to bring this dispute into the courts without first providing any evidence of implicit waiver would create a massive gap in the settled rule that contractors must "follow contractual notice provisions unless those procedures are waived." Johnson, 150 Wn.2d at 386.

That Nova raises a claim of good faith and fair dealing no more waives this rule than the contractor in *Mike M. Johnson* arguing for an actual notice exception or the contractor in *Realm* claiming a post-contract exception. The consistent answer to these claims is that there was a procedure in place for contractors to raise their concerns with the government entity for which they were working, they failed to utilize that system contrary to their contractual obligations, and because the

government did not waive that requirement, their claims fail as a matter of law. The underlying argument here is the same, so too should be the result.

D. THE CITY IS ENTITLED TO ITS ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS ON APPEAL UNDER RCW 39.04.240

The Court of Appeals failed to enter judgment for the City and therefore referred any decision on attorney fees and costs back to the trial court. The City is entitled to its attorney fees and costs on appeal based upon RCW 39.04.240 as previously determined by the trial court. This request is made in accord with RAP 18.1.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals should be reversed and the trial court upheld because Nova failed to comply with the claim notice provisions of the contract. The City repeatedly rejected Nova's submittals and Nova failed to protest those rejection determinations. The City then terminated Nova due to its failure to provide acceptable submittals and the effect the defective submittals had on the work.

By failing to protest the City's determinations with regard to the submittals, Nova waived any objection to the City's termination decision based upon the rejected submittals. The Court of Appeals decision utilizes a faulty distinction as to the nature of relief sought to circumvent the claim

notice provisions of the contract and is therefore in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Mike M. Johnson*. The Court of Appeals should be reversed and the trial court's judgment reinstated. The City is entitled to its attorney fees and costs on appeal.