FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/24/2017 1:58 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 94711-2 Court of Appeals No. 48644-0-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

City of Olympia, Petitioner

V.

Nova Contracting, Inc., Respondent

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Benjamin D. Cushman WSBA # 26358 Attorney for Respondent Nova Contracting Inc.

Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501 360-534-9183

1. Introduction and Statement of the Procedural History

This case arises from the Court of Appeals reversal and remanding of a summary judgment order dismissing Nova Contracting, Inc.'s (referred to herein as "Nova") claim that the Respondent, City of Olympia, violated the Warranty of Good Faith and Fair Dealing by unreasonably exercising its contractual discretion in the review and evaluation of submittals on a public contract in a manner that completely prevented project performance within the available time. Below, the Trial Court granted a Motion for Summary Judgment brought by the City of Olympia in which it asserted that (1) its termination of its contract with Nova for default was proper as a matter of law and therefore (2) Nova was liable for liquidated damages to the City of Olympia. (CP 49-66.) The Motion for Summary Judgment did not raise the issue the City of Olympia now presents for review – whether Nova's claim against the City had been properly and timely presented under the claim provision in the contract. The City did attempt to inject that issue into the Summary Judgment proceeding in Reply, after Nova had responded to the issues that had been raised in the Summary Judgment. (See Reply, CP 439-440). However, the Trial Court properly did not reach those untimely raised issues in its decision (RP 26-31.)

The Court of Appeals reversed the Trial Court on the issues it did reach (rejection of Nova's argument that the City of Olympia breached the warranty of good faith and fair dealing, despite facts in the record supporting that claim, and granting summary judgment on the City of Olympia's counterclaim for breach of contract, again despite the existence of disputed issues of material fact in the record). In reversing the Trial Court, the Court of Appeals did not reach, and was silent on, the argument now raised by the City of Olympia – that Nova failed to follow the required claim procedures and has therefore waived its claim under the principles announced in Mike M. Johnson v. County of Spokane, 150 Wn.2d 375, 78 P.3d 161 (2003) and successfully invoked by the City of Olympia itself in Realm Inc. v. City of Olympia, 106 Wn. App. 1, 277 P.3d 679 (2012). This silence was proper because that issue, and that argument, was not timely raised below and was therefore not properly an issue on review. It would have been reversible error for the Court of Appeals to do what the City of Olympia is contending it should have – affirmed the Trial Court decision on "other grounds" on the basis of its Mike M. Johnson argument.

The absence of this argument below will be glaringly apparent if this Court compares the arguments, the cited cases, and the asserted legal principles in the Motion for Summary Judgment to those in the Petition for

Response to Petition for Discretionary Review – 2

Discretionary Review. *Mike M. Johnson* is the seminal case on the argument now asserted by the City of Olympia, but it was not cited in the Motion for Summary Judgment. Olympia was very aware of this decision and its implications because it had recently prevailed on that basis in a dispute with another contractor on work of the same kind as that in this contract. (Realm and Nova are competitors, and competed for the work at issue in the *Realm* case.) This absence of citation and argument indicates that the issues on which discretionary review is sought are not ripe for review as they were not properly presented below. (RAP 2.5(a) – which provides for three exceptions, none of which apply here).

The proper outcome here is for this Court to deny review and allow the remand to the Trial Court. The City of Olympia could thereafter properly raise the issues and arguments presented in its Petition for Discretionary Review in a manner that allows Nova to respond and develop the record showing that those issues, like the ones previously decided, present triable issues of fact.

2. Issues Presented for Review

Nova disagrees with the implications of the issues as presented by Olympia. Olympia's first issues asks whether a Contractor can ignore a "contractually mandated claim procedure." Nova agrees that a contractor

cannot do so under *Mike M. Johnson v. County of Spokane*, 150 Wn.2d 375, 78 P.3d 161 (2003). However, Nova did not ignore the claim procedure. Rather Nova complied with it. (See Declaration of Jordan Opdahl (CP 273-314), especially Exhibit D (CP 293-314). Even if Nova arguably failed, Olympia did not properly raise this contention below. Nova must be given a full and fair opportunity to respond to this argument, which requires remand to the Trial Court.

Second, Olympia is contending that Nova is asserting some special exception to *Mike M. Johnson* based on the warranty of good faith and fair dealing. While this is an interesting counter-argument, and one that may have merit based on the special equities involved under the warranty of good faith and fair dealing, Nova has not yet made it because Nova has never been presented with the *Mike M. Johnson* argument in a manner that would allow such response. However, that counter-argument would not be the first and only counter-argument available to Nova if and when Olympia properly presents its *Mike M. Johnson* defense to Nova's claim. Nova's first counter-argument would be that it could have performed the contract if it had been given a notice to proceed instead of a termination and, therefore, it had no claim for breach of the warranty of good faith and fair dealing until that moment, and it immediately and properly invoked the claim procedure at that time. Therefore, Nova complied with the

contractually mandated claim procedure. Nova's second counterargument would be that Olympia's behavior, which resulted in a total failure of this contract, was a total and material breach of contract, excusing Nova of its own contractual obligations, including (presumably) claim paperwork. (See WPI 302.03.)

3. Statement of the Case

This case arises from the Woodland Creek Culvert Improvement Project in Olympia, Washington. The project was awarded to Appellant Nova Contracting by Respondent City of Olympia. However, it was never completed and is now not being pursued by the City. Nova produced evidence that the failure of this project was the result of the City of Olympia Department of Public Works' mismanagement of the project, especially its unreasonable exercise of discretion when requiring and evaluating submittals. (CP 246-247, 249-253, 274, 277-278, and 316-320.) The scope of work was relatively small and could have been performed in less than one month. This should not have been a difficult project. (CP 246, 275, and 316.) Nova presented evidence that Nova could and would have performed the contract if it had been given authorization from Olympia to proceed at any time up to and slightly after the date on which Olympia wrongfully terminated Nova. (CP 246-249;

277; 279-280.) Immediately upon wrongful termination, Nova submitted its claim in the form required by the contract documents, and follow up with the additional claim documentation required by the contract documents. (CP 293-314). Thus Nova complied with the mandatory claim presentation requirements in the contract.

The City of Olympia appears to be arguing that Nova should have filed its claim the moment Olympia wrongfully rejected a submittal, even though the initial submittal rejections did not prevent timely contract performance because there was still ample time left for performance. That is a novel and imaginative argument, requiring that contractors not only be scrupulous communicators, but also unerring fortune tellers. Olympia can bring it below, and Nova will respond to it there. In any case, not having been raised below, it is not a proper basis for discretionary review.

4. Argument

Under RAP 13.5(b)(1) and (2), discretionary review may be accepted **only if** both the "error prong" (obvious or probable error) and the "effect prong" (renders further proceedings useless, alters the status quo, or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act) are satisfied.

Olympia cannot satisfy either prong. First, there is no obvious or probable error in the Court of Appeals decision in this case. In fact, if the

Court of Appeals had done what Olympia asserts it should have, then the Court of Appeals would have committed reversible error by deciding an issue not properly raised below and therefore not properly on review. Second, Olympia cannot demonstrate any prejudicial effect. In fact, a remand to the Trial Court is the proper way to address the issues raised in Olympia's Request for Discretionary Review because those issues have not yet been properly brought to the Trial Court for determination.

4.1 This Court should deny discretionary review because the Court of Appeals did not commit obvious or probable error.

Olympia is seeking review of the Court of Appeals decision remanding this matter back to the Trial Court following a reversal of the Trial Court's ruling on the two issues raised by Olympia in its Motion for Summary Judgment. Olympia's argument is that it was error for the Court of Appeals not to affirm the Trial Court on other grounds, specifically on grounds not raised by the City of Olympia in its Motion for Summary Judgment (claim waiver under *Mike M. Johnson*, 150 Wn.2d 375 (2003)). This Court should decline review as (1) it was not error for the Court of Appeals not to reach an issue not properly raised below and (2) even though the issue was not raised below, there is sufficient evidence below to make it a subject of genuine and material factual dispute.

RAP 2.5(a) provides that:

Errors Raised for First Time on Review. The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. A party or the court may raise at any time the question of appellate court jurisdiction. A party may present a ground for affirming a trial court decision which was not presented to the trial court if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground. A party may raise a claim of error which was not raised by the party in the trial court if another party on the same side of the case has raised the claim of error in the trial court.

The contractual defense (claim procedure requirements and compliance) raised by Olympia to Nova's claim is (1) not jurisdictional, (2) not the basis for a CR 12 (b)(6) failure to state a claim defense (the stated claim is breach of contract) and (3) does not present Constitutional issues. Further, while the record includes some tangential facts which, as seen below, are sufficient to deny the argument, Nova was not given a full and fair opportunity to address this issue and develop the record below. The presence of such material facts as there are in this record is largely the result of blind luck. The record would be more complete, even replete with contrary facts, if Nova were given an opportunity to develop a record on this issue, which can only occur on remand. Thus, while there may be

sufficient facts to fairly deny Olympia the result it seeks, there has not been a fair opportunity for Nova to prepare the record and therefore there are not sufficient facts to fairly rule in favor of Olympia on further review.

Despite the lack of opportunity Nova had to develop the record, which was developed for another purpose and in response to a completely different argument than that now raised, there are facts in the record which establish that there is a material factual dispute even about the claim presentation issue Olympia is trying to sneak into this case. Summary judgment can be imposed "...where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Marincovich v. Tarabochia, 114 Wn.2d 271, 274, 787 P.2d 562 (1990). "The court must consider the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and the motion should be granted only if, from all of the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion." *Marincovich* at 274; CR 56(c). Therefore, summary judgment is appropriate when there is no issue of material fact or law, and when a party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Ruff v. County of King, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703, 887 P. 2d 886 (1995); see also CR 56(c).

Olympia's argument is essentially that Nova was late in presenting its claim because it didn't initiate its claim when Olympia first wrongfully rejected submittals. This argument is already different from that raised in

Response to Petition for Discretionary Review – 9

Mike M. Johnson, 150 Wn.2d 375 (2003) and Realm, 168 Wn. App. 1 (2012), where the contractors not only failed to submit a timely claim, they failed to submit any claim in the required form. The evidence here establishes that Nova did submit its claim documentation, including all follow-up documentation, in the proper form. (CP 293-314). Olympia's argument is that Nova's claim documentation was late.

However, this timing issue involves a factual dispute. A party has a claim, triggering any duty it has to present the claim, either when the other party has failed to perform some obligation the other party had under a contract or when some objective circumstances (such as unforeseen conditions) trigger some conditional contract clause. In this case, Nova's allegations involve a failure of Olympia to perform in a manner that allowed Nova to perform within the contract time (breach of the warranty of good faith and fair dealing), thus depriving Nova of the benefit it was entitled to receive under the contract. That is, this case involves the performance (or non-performance) of Olympia.

A party's performance of a contract "is always a question of fact, a matter of degree, and a question that must be determined relative to the circumstances of each case." Arthur Linton Corbin, Corbin on Contracts § 704, at 318 (1960). Nova asserts that Olympia failed to perform. Olympia denies that. This is a disputed material fact. Nova further asserts that if

Response to Petition for Discretionary Review -10

Olympia had allowed Nova to proceed up to, and even for a short time after, the date on which Olympia terminated Nova, then Nova would have been able to fully perform the contract, thus gaining the full benefit of the contract. Olympia did not breach the warranty of good faith and fair dealing until it acted in a manner that deprived Nova of the benefit of the contract, and Olympia did not do that until it issued its termination letter to Nova. Therefore, while Olympia's earlier wrongful rejections of submittals were annoying and presented scheduling difficulties for the project, they were not breaches of contract or claim events triggering Nova's obligation to initiate the contractual claim provision. Nova initiated the claim provision as soon as a triggering claim event (a breach of the warranty of good faith and fair dealing) occurred. Therefore, Nova's claim on this project was not just formally correct, it was timely, and the Court of Appeals, had it reached that issue despite it not being properly raised below, should not have concluded as Olympia asserts. It was not error for the Court of Appeals to ignore the Mike M. Johnson argument, but it would have been error if the Court had done what Olympia is seeking in its Petition for Review.

4.2 This Court should deny discretionary review because the Court of Appeals decision did not have any prejudicial effect.

The "effect prong" sets a high bar for discretionary review. The prejudicial effect of the alleged error must be severe enough to overcome the default principle that trial court errors are most efficiently corrected in a single appeal after final judgment. See Geoffrey Crooks, Washington Survey: Discretionary Review of Trial Court Decisions under the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, 61 Wash. L. Rev. 1541, 1547 (1986) ("The appellate system operates with a plain and intentional bias against interlocutory review.").1

"[A] trial court order denying a motion to dismiss ... is generally insufficient to satisfy the effect prong." *State v. Howland*, 180 Wn. App. 196, 206, 321 P.3d 303 (2014). The risk of expensive or protracted litigation is also generally insufficient to justify discretionary review; the proceedings must truly be worthless, such as where a successful appeal would result in the dismissal of all claims, ending the case, e.g., *Douchette v. Bethel Sch. Dist. No. 403*, 117 Wn.2d 805, 818 P.2d 1362 (1991). Similarly, arguing that the issue is likely to be appealed at the end of the case, possibly resulting in two trials, is not enough, particularly where

Mr. Crooks was, at the time, Commissioner of this Court, writing from 10 years' experience handling motions for discretionary review.

accepting interlocutory review might arguably result in **two appeals** (and still a second trial). *See* Crooks, at 1549-50.

Although a party may believe and sincerely argue that an eventual appeal is inevitable, it frequently is not so. Pretrial issues often are rendered moot by the result of trial. Other times the whole lawsuit settles. Most cases in which pretrial discretionary review has been sought but denied probably do not, in fact, return later on appeal.

Crooks, at 1550.

To satisfy the effect prong, a party must demonstrate that a court's decision has an effect beyond the immediate litigation.

[W]here a trial court's action merely alters the status of the litigation itself or limits the freedom of a party to act in the conduct of the lawsuit, even if the trial court's action is probably erroneous, it is not sufficient to invoke review under RAP 2.3(b)(2). Errors such as these are properly reviewed, if necessary, at the conclusion of the case where they may be considered in the context of the entire hearing or trial.

Howland, 180 Wn. App. at 207.

Olympia has not been prejudiced by the Court of Appeals decision remanding this case back to the Trial Court. In fact, remand benefits Olympia because Olympia has not properly presented this issue to the Trial Court (the extent of the previous presentation being a short section and a footnote in its Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 439-440), which was properly disregarded by the Trial Court and the

Response to Petition for Discretionary Review – 13

Court of Appeals as a late argument to which Nova had not been given an opportunity to respond). If Olympia wishes to raise a *Mike M. Johnson*, it can and should do so on remand, but that issue is not a proper basis for Supreme Court review on the current record.

5. Conclusion

This case is not ripe for review. The only issue raised in the Petition for Review, a *Mike M. Johnson* defense Olympia wishes to assert, was not properly raised below. Nova has not been given a full and fair opportunity to respond to it below. The record below (while suggestive and possibly sufficient to deny Olympia the defense), is far from complete on this issue, as it has never been developed for this issue. The best way to handle this *Mike M. Johnson* defense is to remand this case and allow the parties to develop the record on it. This Court should deny Olympia's motion for discretionary review and remand to the Trial Court for further proceedings.